IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

SHIRLEY ROSS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-01889-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record for Appellant Shirley Ross certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- (1) Henry Clay, III, Esq.
 Post Office Box 2365
 Ridgeland, MS 39158-2365
 Trial Counsel for Shirley Ross
- (2) James Powell, District Attorney
 Office of the District Attorney
 Yazoo County
 Post Office Box 311
 Durant, MS 39063

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Shirley Ross was indicted on October 6, 2005 and charged with two counts of aggravated assault.¹ (C.P. 3).

Prior to trial, defense counsel filed a Motion to Dismiss count two of the indictment. (C.P. 10). The trial court dismissed count two of the indictment on March 31, 2006. (C.P. 10)

The only other motions defense counsel filed before trial was a Motion for Discovery and a Motion for Continuance. (C.P. 6-9, C.P. 1). In its response to the Motion for Discovery, the State provided defense counsel with copies of the medical records of the victim. (See, Exhibit A, medical records of Walter Ross). Walter Ross' medical records were not entered into evidence.

Defense counsel did not file a Motion for Mental Examination and/or Competency prior to Shirley Ross' trial. (C.P. 1-2). Defense counsel did not ask the Court to appoint a battered woman's expert to assist the jury. (C.P. 1-2).

The one day trial began and concluded in the Circuit Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi on April 11, 2006 and culminated the same day. (T. p. 1-241). Within fifteen minutes of being dismissed by the Court to deliberate, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on the charge of aggravated assault. (T. p. 238, 1. 15-22).

On April 13, 2006, the Honorable Jannie Lewis sentenced Shirley Ross to ten years in the custody of the MDOC. (C.P. 32). It is from the guilty verdict and sentence that Shirley Ross appeals.

Neither Shirley Ross nor Walter Ross is related by blood or marriage to Lisa M. Ross.

CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE

At issue in this appeal are three of the State's challenges for cause. Specifically, the defendant challenges the removal for cause of Krystal Levill Morton, Juror No. 7, Bobbie Hubbard, Juror No. 22, and Roger Smith, Juror No. 31.

After voir dire, the State challenged Juror No. 7, Krystal Levill Morton, an African-American female, for cause. (C.P. 64). The prosecutor, who is white, told the court "Juror Number 7, Ms. Morton, has a paper due or some work due today; hasn't done any work on it, says that would be on her mind and would interfere with her ability to pay attention." (T. p. 75-76). Defense counsel objected to the granting of a challenge for cause as to Ms. Morton. (T. p. 76, 1. 4-8). The trial court granted the cause challenge. (T. p. 76, 1. 9-10).

The State also challenged Juror No. 22, Bobbie Hubbard, an African-American female, for cause. (C.P. 64). The prosecutor stated "I've got 22, because of, I guess, both the relationship that she said her daughter, that the defendant's daughter used to date her son, and then Mr. Clay also brought out additional stuff how she had been in the victim's household and been friends with the family, and I just think she's too close to the case." (T. p. 76, 21-28). Even though Juror No. 22 stated during voir dire she could lay aside and try the case based on the law and evidence, defense counsel did not object. (T. p. 77, 1. 1-3), (T. p. 43, 1. 9-12), and (T. p. 43, 1. 13).

Roger Smith, Juror No. 31, an African-American male, also was challenged for cause by the State. (C.P. 64), (T. p. 77, l. 11-18). During voir dire, Roger Smith told the court that his brother was married to Shirley Ross' cousin. (T. p. 27, l. 17-18). Juror

i.

No. 31 stated that there was nothing about that relationship that would prevent him from being fair and impartial. (T. p. 27, 1, 21-24).

When the jury was being selected, the prosecutor stated: "I don't know what his problem is, but he raised his card one time, and when I went back and talked to him, he laid completely back in his chair, wouldn't respond to the question, and I couldn't get anything out of him. He was just acting odd." (T. p. 77, 1. 11-18). Defense counsel did not object. (T. p. 77, 1. 19-22).

The record reveals that Juror No. 31 was quite forthcoming in responding to the questions posed by the court and prosecutor. In addition to the conversation with the court outlined above, the following colloquy took place between the prosecutor and Roger Smith.

"Mr. Smith, you indicated that your brother married the defendant's cousin? Is that right?

A. Yes. sir.

Q. How well would you know, based on that relationship, your brother's relationship with her cousin, how much contact did you have with Ms. Ross, the defendant?

A. Not too much.

Q. So you don't see her on a regular basis or have much contact with her on a regular basis?

A. No. sir.

Q. Okay. Is there anything at all about that relationship or that, I guess, because by marriage, kind of part of an extended family, is that going to have any bearing on your decision in this case?

A. No. sir.

Q. It won't?

A. No. (T. p. 46, 1. 7-26).

PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES

The defendant in this case also objects to the racially discriminatory manner in which the State exercised its peremptory challenges to jurors, particularly African-American females from the jury panel.

The State struck Gwen Allen, Juror No. 1, Jo Ann Jones, Juror No. 13, Vanessa Bullock, Juror No. 16, and Julie Robinson, Juror 21, all African-American females. (C.P. 64), (T. p. 81-83). Defense counsel did not raise any Batson challenges. (T. p. 81-85). No African-American females were seated on the jury. (C.P. 64), (T. p. 85, 1. 1-18). The jury that was seated included three African-American males, Lee Young Jr. Melvin Collins and John E. Clark, seven white women, two white men, and three African-American men. (C.P. 64), (T. p. 85, 1. 1-18).

The State exercised its first peremptory challenge against Gwen Allen, an African-American female. (C.P. 64), (T. p. 81, 1. 21). The State exercised its third peremptory challenge against Jo Ann Jones, an African-American female. (C.P. 64), (T. p. 82, 1. 1-2). The State exercised its fourth peremptory challenge against Vanessa Bullock, an African-American female. (C.P. 64), (T. p. 82, 1. 7). The State exercised its fifth peremptory challenge against Julie Robinson, an African-American female. (C.P. 64), (T. p. 83, 1. 4). Defense counsel did not challenge the State's peremptory challenges regarding any of its strikes against African-American women. (T. p. 81-83).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Walter Ross says he's done something that no other man including Jesus Christ and Lazarus have done. By his account, Walter Ross died twice and lived to talk about it. (T. p. 139, l. 17-18). "I died two times. I died two times. (T.p. 139, l. 17-18).

Despite Walter Ross' incredulous claim of having given up the ghost twice, on April 11, 2006, he took the witness stand to testify against his wife Shirley Ross on the charge that she committed an aggravated against him on June 19, 2005. (T.p. 130-156). But it was the prosecutor who drove the nail into the coffin for Shirley Ross. At the end of Shirley Ross' trial, he argued "It's a miracle that he's living and she's not charged with murder. A miracle. What she did to him could have and probably should have killed him. It didn't, and for that reason, she's got all she deserves, and that being charged with aggravated assault instead of murder. She's got more than she deserves in benefiting from him not dying from her act, because that's what she intended. (T. p. 235, l. 11-19).

WALTER ROSS MARRIES SHIRLEY ROSS

Shirley Ross and Walter Ross were married on July 24, 1999. (T. p. 177, l. 6). No children were born of that union. (T. p. 132, l. 17-20). Shirley Ross, however, had five children. (T. p. 132, l. 21-29). All of Shirley Ross' children, except one, lived with Shirley Ross and Walter Ross at some point during the course of their marriage. (T. p. 132, l.21-24).

When Shirley Ross and Walter Ross first married, they lived in her apartment at 1137 Prentiss Street, Yazoo City, Mississippi. (T. p. 133, l. 4-8). Three or four years later, Shirley Ross and Walter Ross moved to 26 Graball Road in Yazoo City, Mississippi. (T. p. 133, l. 9-12).

Walter Ross worked for Mississippi Chemical for twenty-six years. (T. p. 142, l. 18-19). After he was laid off from Mississippi Chemical, he went to work for "the County, going around and doing clean-up with some inmates." (T. p. 142, l. 15-16). Shirley Ross also held a number of jobs, including but not limited to her job with Lextron Corporation. (T. p. 176, l. 22-29). In June of 2005, Shirley Ross did not have a vehicle to travel to her job. (T. p. 179, l. 27-29), (T. p. 180, l. 1-4). This also was a source of contention between the couple because Walter Ross told Shirley Ross "you ain't going to be burning the motor up in my car, running up and down to work in Canton. You ain't going to be burning the motor up in my truck." (Id.)

Money also was an issue in the marriage of Walter Ross and Shirley Ross. (T. p. 144, l. 13-16). The gas at the house at 23 Graball Road was turned off in March of 2005, and was still off on June 19, 2005, more than three months later. (T. p. 144, l. 21-29). That was not the only issue between the couple. By June 19, 2005, "she [Shirley Ross] wouldn't even sleep with me [Walter Ross]." (T. p. 144, l. 11-12).

VIOLENT ENCOUNTERS BEFORE JUNE 19, 2005

At her trial, Shirley Ross recounted for the jury a fight she had with Walter Ross three years prior to Father's Day of 2005. (T. p. 182 - 83). Shirley Ross testified:

"I had asked Quinton to go to the store one day, and evidently, Ross was out on his route or whatever, and he saw Quinton, and he just got firey hot, just firey hot. And he came back to the house and wanted to know, 'Why you let Quinn drive the car? I just saw Quinn so, so, and so and so.' I'm just 'so what?' You know, he just went a short piece. He just went a short piece. Then fussing and cussing again, Just fussing and cussing again. On, and on and on and on, you this, you that. I had the keys in my hand. We started going around and around in circles. Around and around in circles, tussling with the keys, tussling for the keys. Oh, yeah, he hit me." (T. p. 182 - 83).

Quinton Austin, the son of Shirley Ross, also told the jury about his violent encounter with Walter Ross. (T. p. 159-168). Quinton Austin described the altercation this way:

"Well, one evening my mother sent me to the store to get some food, and when I come back, Mr. Ross was there. And they had an argument about whether I was supposed to drive the car or not. And they had a fight. And in-between that fight, he was trying to get the keys or whatever, and he punched her, he hit her. And from there, I broke in-between. I stopped the fight. I grabbed a hold of him. And then from then on out, it was me and him. My mother left out the front door. I think she went to get help or something, and he went to grab a knife. And he cut me up. I had like four stitches maybe; four or five stitches in my finger. And he left. He finally got up off of me, and that was the end of the situation." (T. p. 159, l. 17-29). "He proceeded to the back room after she ran out. After she went out the front door, he proceeded to the back room and grabbed something. He went and grabbed a knife, and he came back out, right there, and he got at me, I'm like, 'No, sir, please don't kill me, please don't kill me, please don't kill me. I had a couple of cuts over my eye, I had a couple of cuts on my arm, and that was it." (T. p. 161, l. 22-29).

On direct examination during the State's case-in-chief, Walter Ross testified that he was the victim in the fight, not Shirley Ross or Quinton Austin. (T. p. 137). Walter Ross stated that Shirley Ross said, "'Quint, let's beat his ass.' And she clubbed me with an iron. She was at the ironing board, so she clubbed me with an iron. She was standing in front, she slapped me in the face with that iron, and I stumbled back like that, and then Quint hit me in the eye, and I had a concussion. Only thing I could do to get them off of me, I reached in my pocket and pulled out a little pocket knife and went to swinging it." (T. p. 137, l. 19-27).

Jurrie Austin, Shirley Ross' daughter, also described to the jury violent encounters that she had with Walter Ross. "On the first occasion, it was back in March, I didn't to go to church with Mr. Ross because I had just, Mr. Ross and my mama, because I have just went to church Saturday with my grandmother, and I was in the room getting dressed, and Mr. Ross had came in and asked me why wasn't I going to church, and I told him I had already talked to my mom about it, and she said that it was okay, and he got irate, and, in the process of getting dressed, he started hitting on me and stuff.... He started hitting me. When I was trying to get away from him, he grabbed by arm and caused me to have a lot of bruises." (T. p. 169, l. 13-22).

"The second incident was before I graduated, his church was giving a program for us, and again, I did not choose to go to church with him because I was going to another church. And he came back in the room saying I was trying to be grown, and I wasn't being respectful, and again, I was getting dressed at that time, as well, and he came in the room and did the exact same thing, placing his hands on me by hitting me. " (T. p. 170, l. 18-26).

"..I remember on the second incident, before I had left, my mom had came in the house, and she was asking what was going on, and he was telling my mom how I needed to get the hell out of his house, and she was like, 'What happened? What's going on?' I said, 'Mr. Ross is getting mad because I won't go to church with him.' Like that. She said, 'We had already discussed it.' I said, 'I know. You need to tell him that.' Like that. And he said he didn't want to hear nothing; I just need to get the hell out of his house, she needed to get me the hell out of his house." (T. p. 171, l. 6-17).

WALTER ROSS PORTRAYAL OF HIMSELF

At Shirley Ross' trial, Walter Ross portrayed himself as gentle as *Mary's Little Lamb*. "You know, because I was trying to live a Christian life. I never wanted to argue with my wife. I wanted for my marriage to work out. I loved that woman. I loved her with my heart. I never did anything to her." (T. p. 136, l. 13-19). "I never assaulted her, sir." (T. p. 136, l. 23). "I have never cursed her. Now, I have been in arguments, but as far as me cursing her, I have never hit my wife, because I thought that woman was everything in the world." (T. p. 139, l. 7-11). "I never hit her in my life... Never hit her in my life. I worshipped that woman." (T. p. 148, l. 10-13).

Shirley Ross and her children paint a different picture of Walter Ross. (T. p. 159-168), (T.p. 169-171), (T.p. 182-83). Walter Ross, they say, is a wolf in sheep's clothing. Consider Shirley Ross' testimony:

"This stuff just didn't happen just Father's Day like all in the blue. Me and Ross was already not speaking to one another. It had got so bad until I started calling him Satan, And he would answer to it. I was like, 'Good morning, Satan. How you doing, Satan?' 'How was your day, Satan?' We was already angry with each other. We was not speaking with one another. We was not speaking to one another." (T. p. 185, l. 3-12).

While Walter Ross claims that he thought the world of Shirley Ross, his feeling obviously stopped short of providing hot water to bathe in there at 26 Graball-Freerun Road. (T. p. 139, l. 7-11), (T. p. 176, l. 16-17). When Shirley Ross bathe at the house she shared with Walter Ross, it was in cold water. (T. 188, l 21-25). Walter Ross says there had been no gas in the home for at least two to four months. (T. p. 144, l. 21-28).

Walter Ross testified that he and Shirley Ross started arguing a lot when he lost his job with the Mississippi Chemical Corporation. (T. p. 147, l. 16-17). "That's when I started asking her to help me pay the bills.... And I said, "Baby, why don't you get a job?' I said, 'The folks at the school called me,' and I said, 'Why don't you get a job to help me out?' I said, 'If you can make \$500 a month, that will help.' And she always said, "I ain't working.' Always said she wasn't working. And wasn't going to work." (I. p. 147, l. 16-28).

At the time of the incident in question, Shirley Ross was employed at Lextron Corporation in Canton, Mississippi. (T. p. 176, l. 22-29). The day before the incident in question, Shirley Ross and Walter Ross had an argument. (T. p. 186, l. 12-15). Walter Ross told Shirley Ross that she was not going to stop him from being with his family on the weekend. (T. p. 186, l. 17-20).

FATHER'S DAY OF 2005

On Father's Day, Shirley Ross and Walter Ross went to Sunday School together. (T. p. 177, l. 12-13), (T. p. 144, l. 17-20). When Sunday School was over, Shirley Ross went home. (T. p. 177, l. 15-16). Shirley Ross stopped by her mother's house for a few minutes.

(T. p. 178, l. 6-7). Then, Shirley Ross went to the local Taco Bell. (T. p. 178, l. 8-9). From there, Shirley Ross went home. (T.p.189, l. 9). Shirley Ross testified "I sat down at the table. I started to eat my food; started to unwrapping the paper, whatever. And then he dumped my tea into my food. And my food and my tea ran all in my lap. He started ranting and raving, "Did you pay the light bill? Did you pay the light Bill?" (T. p. 178, l. 12-17).

Shirley Ross told Walter Ross that she did not pay the light bill. "The lights should have already been paid, like three or four weeks ago." (T. p. 178, l. 18-20).

Walter Ross testified that when Shirley Ross came home after Sunday School, she did not have any food from Taco Bell with her. (T. p. 146, l. 5-8). Walter Ross testified that he and Shirley Ross did not have an argument. (T. p. 146, l. 9-21). Walter Ross testified that "when she came in the house from her church, I left right back out." (T. p. 146, l. 25-28).

After that argument, Walter Ross left his home presumably to attend his family church in Pickens. Walter Ross asked Shirley Ross to accompany him. (T.p. 177, l. 14-15)"I didn't even want to go. But he left and he went to the program. And I stayed there at the house with the mess, and I was hungry." (T. p. 178, l. 25-28). Walter Ross and Shirley Ross were also scheduled to attend a Youth Day program at Shirley Ross' church at 3 p.m. that afternoon. (T. p. 177, l. 16-21). Walter Ross was late returning home so Shirley Ross decided to attend the Youth Day program at her church without him. (T. p. 177, l. 18-21). When Shirley Ross returned home after the Youth Day program, Walter Ross was ranting and raving and wanted to know why I left him. He already knew why I left him, because he was late picking me up. And he started to fussing and starting to arguing. "(T. p. 178. l. 1-5). Walter Ross left to attend another church service. (T. p. 146, l. 25-28).

While Walter Ross was away from the house, Shirley Ross decided she wanted to fry some shrimp. (T.p. 178, l. 28-29). Shirley Ross also wanted to bathe in preparation for work that night. (T.p. 179, l. 14-16). At some point, Shirley Ross put some grease in the deep fryer.

Shirley Ross was in the kitchen when Walter Ross returned home. (T. p. 180, l. 6-7). Shirley Ross was heating water to take a bathe before getting ready for work. (T. p. 183, l. 28-29). Walter Ross told her "Shirley, I will beat your ass and put you in the hospital." (T.p. 186, l. 27-28). Shirley Ross also was heating grease in a deep fryer to fry shrimp. (T. p. 183, l. 27-28). The argument escalated when Walter Ross came into the kitchen and struck Shirley Ross. (T. p. 180, l. 6-12). "He hit me. He did hit me. He did hit me, and that's when I put that grease on him, and he turned, made a quick turn. I saw that roasting pan on my counter-top, and that's when I put that water on him." (T. p. 180, l.8-12). Shirley Ross testified that she had no reason not to doubt Walter Ross. She testified, "Now, I don't know about nobody else, but when somebody tells you that, I'm thinking that he's going to do it, because I know the man is able and capable to do it. So yes, I was scared." (T.p. 186-187).

The grease and water did not keep Walter Ross off of Shirley Ross. "Mr. Ross still had strength enough to fight. We was falling all down in the kitchen on the floor, falling around in the grease and water. He still had strength enough to do that. I didn't have no object in my hand. I couldn't put my arm, my hand around Ross' neck if I tried to, this day or any other day. That is not true. I was trying to push him off, pushing him off of me, pushing him off of me. And to this day, I don't know how Ross got off of me. I don't know if he just decided he was going to get up off of me or if I pushed him off of me. I don't know. All I know is that he went out my front door, our front door, and down the street. I went to my front door. I didn't see him anywhere. I walked out in the yard to the

edge of the street, and there he was, in a neighbor's yard. I don't know who that neighbor was. I don't know who the neighbor was. So I go back in the house and I got my keys. I saw him in the neighbor's yard. I saw the neighbor. I'm yelling out the window, 'Call 9-1-1,' because I did not call 9-1-1 before I left the house." (T. 180, l. 13-29).

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