IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHIRLEY ROSS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1889

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

Furthermore, Ross's failure to raise a *Batson* issue bars consideration of that proposition on appeal. The record leaves nothing for this Court to review.

Additionally, Ross's challenge to certain testimony by Mr. Ross is procedurally barred by her failure to interpose a contemporaneous objection. The state argues alternatively that the testimony was properly admitted. In any case, it was not so egregious as to require the trial court to declare a mistrial on its own motion.

The state submits Ross cannot establish on this record that her trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance. While she alleges unprofessional lapses, she cannot show that her counsel's performance was so deplorable as to have required the trial court to declare a mistrial *sua sponte*.

Moreover, the state contends Ross's issue with respect to the state's closing argument is procedurally barred by her failure to object. Alternatively, the state submits the prosecutor was properly arguing inferences from facts in evidence.

Finally, Ross's invocation of the cumulative error doctrine is procedurally barred.

Because Ross's other allegations of error are unavailing, her final proposition lacks substantive merit as well.

PROPOSITION ONE:

ROSS'S ATTACK ON THE COURT'S ALLOWANCE OF THE STATE'S CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY WITHOUT MERIT

Ross first contends the trial court erred in granting the state's challenges for cause. At the outset, the state submits Ross may not be heard to contest those challenges for cause to which the defense stated it had no objection. (T.75-79) Her failure to object to those challenges bars her "from doing so now on appeal." *Bennett v. State*, 933 So.2d 930, 941 (Miss.2006). The trial court will not be put in error on a point not presented to it for decision. *Id.*

The defense did object to the challenge to Juror Number 7, a Ms. Morton, and to Juror Number 34, a Ms. Sibley. (T.75, 79) The state attempted to strike Ms. Morton because she had stated during voir dire that she was employed during the day, that she attended night school, that she was working on a research paper which was due soon, and that the looming deadline would distract from her ability to pay attention to the proceedings. (T.56-57) Under questioning by

defense counsel, that she was "supposed to have some work done on it [the paper]" that night, and that she was allowed to miss only two classes. She did state that she "probably could" obtain an extension. (T.74-75) The court ultimately granted the state's challenge for cause to Ms. Morton. (T.76)

Ms. Sibley had stated that was taking various medications, one of which made her "drowsy" during the day. (T. 53-54) The court granted the state's challenge for cause to Ms. Sibley as well. (T.78)

"A juror who may be removed on a challenge for cause is one against whom a cause for challenge exists that would likely affect his competency or impartiality at trial." *Berry v. State*, 703 So.2d 269, 292 (Miss.1997). The determination of this issue is within the discretion of the trial court. *Pierre v. State*, 607 So. 2d 43, 49 (Miss.1992). "Because the trial judge hears and sees the individual jurors, he is in the better position to evaluate their responses and determine whether or not they should be excluded for cause." *Hervey v. State*, 764 So.2d 457, 460 (Miss.App.2000). The court's determination of this judicial question is entitled to great deference on appeal; it will not be set aside unless it is "clearly wrong." *Id.*, quoting *Taylor v. State*, 672 So.2d 1246, 1264 (Miss.1996).

The record amply supports the state's arguments and the court's acceptance of them. The court was not "clearly wrong" in concluding that these potential jurors would be unable to devote sufficient attention to the proceedings. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its substantial discretion in granting the state's challenges for cause to Jurors Number 7 and 34. The other issues raised under this proposition are procedurally barred. Accordingly, Ross's first proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION TWO:

ROSS'S BATSON, CHALLENGE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Although she failed to raise the issue in any form at trial, Ross now contends the prosecution violated *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), by purposely using its peremptory challenges to remove African-American females from the venire. The record shows that *Batson* was never put into issue during the jury selection process.² (T.75-85) "Therefore, the State was not given the opportunity to advance reasons as to why specific veniremen were excused. This claim was not raised at trial; therefore it is barred upon appeal." *Rosenthall v. State*, 844 So.2d 1156, 1159 (Miss.2003), citing *Williams v. State*, 684 So.2d 1179, 1203 (Miss.1996).

An appellate court may act only on the basis of the official record. It does not act on assertions in briefs. *Page v. State*, 987 So.2d 1035, 1038 (Miss.App.2008). Here, the record does not reflect the race of the members of the venire. The state might well have had neutral reasons for exercising its peremptory strikes, but those reasons do not appear in the record because the prosecution was not required to provide them. It follows that Ross's failure to raise this issue during the jury selection process leaves this court with nothing to review. In light of *Rosenthall*, this issue is barred.

²Indeed, there was no objection in any form to the process of jury selection.

PROPOSITION THREE:

ROSS'S OBJECTION TO CERTAIN TESTIMONY BY WALTER ROSS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Near the conclusion of his direct examination of Walter Ross, the district attorney asked, "Where all were you injured as a result of the water and grease thrown on you?" Mr. Ross answered that he had suffered third degree burns on his head, chest and back; that he had been unconscious for five to six weeks; and that he had "died two times." (T.139) Having failed to interpose an objection to this testimony, Ross contends on appeal that the trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial *sua sponte* after Mr. Ross made this last statement.

"It is axiomatic that a litigant is required to make a timely objection." Washington v. State, 957 So.2d 426, 429 (Miss.App.2007), quoted in Harris v. State, 979 So.2d 721 (Miss.App.2008). Ross's failure to make a contemporaneous objection procedurally bars any allegation of error. Id.

Solely in the alternative, the state submits Ross has failed to show that this testimony was so egregious as to require the court to declare a mistrial on its own motion. First, we contend any objection would have been properly overruled. The state was required to prove, *inter alia*, that Ross caused bodily injury to the victim with a means likely to produce serious bodily harm.

(C.P.14) Walter Ross's testimony was relevant to establish this point. Moreover, the prosecution was entitled to present evidence of the complete story of the offense, including the injuries suffered and treatment received by the victim. See generally, *Ford v. State*, 975 So.2d 859 (Miss.2008). Had Ross made an objection to this testimony, the trial court would not have erred in overruling it.

The state submits additionally that the most rational deduction from the statement "I died

twice" is that while he was being treated, Mr. Ross's heart stopped and/or that he had to be resuscitated on two occasions. The jurors obviously could see that he was in fact still alive and therefore had not actually "died" even once. The state fails to see how this statement could have prejudiced the jury. By no stretch of the imagination was this testimony, under these circumstances, so egregious as to require the trial court to declare a mistrial on its own motion. Any arguable error—and we maintain that there was none—should be considered harmless. Lofton v. State, 818 So.2d 1229, 1237 (Miss.2002).

For these reasons, Ross's third proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION FOUR:

ROSS HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HER TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE

Ross contends next that her trial counsel rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance. To prevail, she must satisfy the following standard:

> The Mississippi Supreme Court has adopted the two-pronged test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) in determining whether a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should prevail. ... Rankin v. State, 636 So.2d 652, 656 (Miss. 1994) enunciates the application of *Strickland*:

> > The Strickland test requires a showing that counsel's performance was sufficiently deficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. . . . The defendant has the burden of proof on both prongs. A strong but rebuttable presumption, that counsel's performance falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. exists.... The defendant must show that but for his attorney's errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would have received a different result in the trial court. . . .

> > > Viewed from the totality of the

circumstances, this Court must determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. . . . Scrutiny of counsel's performance by this Court must be deferential. . . . If the defendant raises questions of fact regarding either deficiency of counsel's conduct or prejudice to the defense, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. . . . Where this Court determines defendant's counsel was constitutionally ineffective, the appropriate remedy is to reverse and remand for a new trial.

In short, a convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal has two components to comply with *Strickland*. First, he must show that counsel's performance was deficient, that he made errors so serious that he was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that counsel's errors deprived him of a fair trial with reliable results.

(emphasis added) *Colenburg v. State*, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102-03 (Miss.App.1999).

Because this point is raised for the first time on direct appeal, Ross encounters an additional obstacle: the pertinent question

is not whether trial counsel was or was not ineffective but whether the trial judge, as a matter of law, had a duty to declare a mistrial or to order a new trial, sua sponte on the basis of trial counsel's performance. "Inadequacy of counsel" refers to representation that is so lacking in competence that the trial judge has the duty to correct it so as to prevent a mockery of justice. Parham v. State, 229 So.2d 582, 583 (Miss.1969). To reason otherwise would be to cast the appellate court in the role of a finder of fact; it does not sit to resolve factual inquiries. Malone v. State, 486 So.2d 367, 369 n. 2 (Miss. 1986). Read [v. State, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1983)] clearly articulates that the method that the issue of a trial counsel's effectiveness can be susceptible to review by an appellate court requires that the counsel's effectiveness, or lack thereof, be discernable from the four corners of the trial record. This is to say that if this Court can determine from the record that counsel was ineffective, then it should have been apparent to the presiding judge, who had the duty, under Parham, to declare a mistrial or order a

new trial sua sponte.

(emphasis added) Colenburg, 735 So.2d at 1102.

Accord, *Madison v.* State, 923 So.2d 252 (Miss.App.2006); *Jenkins v. State*, 912 So.2d 165, 173 (Miss.App.2005); *Walker v. State*, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss.App.2002); *Estes v. State*, 782 So.2d 1244, 1248-49 (Miss.App.2000).

Ross has not begun to show that her trial counsel's performance was so deplorable as to require the court to declare a mistrial on its own motion. Because she has not attempted to sustain the particular burden she faces when raising this issue on direct appeal, the state submits her fourth proposition should be denied without prejudice to its being advanced in a motion for post-conviction collateral relief.

For the sake of argument, the state addresses Ross's particular claims. First, she asserts her counsel was ineffective in failing to conduct an adequate voir dire, failing to make proper objections to the state's challenges for cause, and failure to raise a *Batson* issue. The state counters that conducting jury selection, including the decision whether to make a *Batson* objection, is "generally a matter of trial strategy." *Turner v. State*, 953 So.2d 1063, 1070 (Miss.2007). Accord, *Price v. State*, 749 So.2d 1188, 1199 (Miss.App.1999). Furthermore, we incorporate by reference our response under Proposition Two of this brief in contending that these issues cannot be decided within the four corners of this record.

Ross next asserts that her trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to Walter Ross's testimony that he "died two times." Incorporating by reference our response under Proposition Three of this brief, we submit that Ross can show neither an unprofessional lapse nor prejudice within the meaning of *Strickland*. The testimony was not objectionable, and no prejudice can be shown inasmuch as the jury clearly was aware that Mr. Ross was not dead.

Finally, Ross claims her lawyer was ineffective in failing to request that she undergo a mental evaluation and failing to conduct an adequate investigation. Again, the state asserts the record obviously does not show what the results of such evaluation and investigation would have been. It follows that these claims cannot be decided on the basis of this record.

For these reasons, the state submits Ross's fourth proposition should be rejected without prejudice to its being raised in a motion for post-conviction collateral relief.

PROPOSITION FIVE:

ROSS'S CHALLENGE TO THE STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY WITHOUT MERIT

Ross next takes issue with the following argument, made by the district attorney during final closing: "It's a miracle that he's living and that she's not charged with murder. A miracle. What she did to him could have and probably should have killed him." (T.235) The challenge to this argument is procedurally barred by Ross's failure to interpose a contemporaneous objection to it. *Rubenstein v. State*, 941 So.2d 735, 779 (Miss.2006); *Moore v. State*, 938 So.2d 1254, 1265 (Miss.2006), citing *Thorson v. State*, 895 So.2d 85, 112 (Miss.2004). Ross's fifth proposition should be denied on that basis.

In the alternative, the state contends the argument in question set out rational conclusions from facts properly admitted into evidence. The prosecutor "may comment upon any facts introduced into evidence, and he may draw whatever deductions and inferences that seem proper to him from the facts." *Bell v. State*, 725 So.2d 836, 851 (Miss.1998), cited in *McGowen v. State*, 859 So.2d 320 (Miss.2003). Moreover, attorneys are afforded "broad latitude" in making their closing arguments. *Garrett v. State*, 956 So.2d 2296 (Miss.App.2006).

The state had properly admitted proof that Mr. Ross nearly had died from his injuries.

Thus, it cannot be concluded rationally that the district attorney departed from the broad range allowed him.

In conclusion, the state points out that the court instructed the jury in pertinent part as follows:

[T]he attorneys will make closing arguments. These arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. But, the arguments are not evidence. Therefore, if a statement is made during the argument which is not based upon evidence, you should disregard that statement entirely.

(C.P.13)

Of course, the jury is presumed to have followed this instruction. *McGilberry v. State*, 741 So.2d 894, 919-20 (Miss.1999). "Assuming arguendo the prosecutor's comments were improper, such error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the instruction by the trial court that such comments did not constitute evidence and should be disregarded." *Walker v. State*, 913 So.2d 198,

241 (Miss.2005).

For these reasons, Ross's fifth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION SIX:

ROSS'S INVOCATION OF THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY MERITLESS

Ross finally contends that the cumulative errors of the trial court mandates reversal of the judgment rendered against her. She did not present this argument below (See Motion for New Trial or JNOV, C.P. 33-34) and may not raise it for the first time on appeal. *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260-61 (Miss.2001); *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss.1998). Her sixth proposition is procedurally barred.

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